#### **BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL**

#### CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE'S TRUST BOARD

#### 5.00PM, 20 APRIL 2009

#### **COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL**

#### MINUTES

#### Present:

Councillors: Mrs Brown (Chairman), Bennett, Fryer, Hawkes (Opposition Spokesperson) and Kemble

#### Brighton & Hove Primary Care Trust:

Julian Lee (Deputy Chairman) and Darren Grayson

#### South Downs Health:

Simon Turpitt

#### Non-Voting Co-optees:

Gail Gray, Community & Voluntary Sector Forum Professor Imogen Taylor, Universities of Brighton & Sussex Priya Rogers and Rose Suman, Youth Council Vacancy, Surrey & Sussex Strategic Health Authority

#### **Apologies:**

David Standing, Community & Voluntary Sector Forum Andrew Jeffrey, Parent Forum Eleanor Davies, Parent Forum

#### PART ONE

#### 58. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS

#### 58a Declarations of Substitutes

58.1 Clodagh Warde-Robinson, Non Executive Director and Chair of Governance for South Downs, declared that she was attending the meeting as a substitute for Mo Marsh.

#### 58b Declarations of Interest

58.2 There were none.

#### 58c Exclusion of Press and Public

58.3 **RESOLVED** – That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the Items 66 and 67 in Part Two of the agenda.

#### 59. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

59.1 **RESOLVED** – That the minutes of the previous meeting be approved and signed by the Chairman subject to the following amendment:

Paragraph 54.2 - where it reads "The Chairman also reported that she had visited Chalky Hill, a new house for children with mental health problems" should read "The Chairman also reported that she had visited Chalkhill, a new provision for children with mental health problems".

#### 60. CHAIRMAN'S COMMUNICATIONS

60.1 The Chairman had no communications to report. However, Simon Turpitt informed members that a new Chief Executive had been appointed to the South Downs NHS Health Trust. His name was Andy Painton, a Brighton resident, and was due to start on 1 June 2009.

#### 61. NHS BRIGHTON & HOVE ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN 2009/10

- 61.1 The Board considered a report of the NHS Brighton & Hove Executive Directors concerning the NHS Brighton & Hove Annual Operating Plan 2009/10, which focused on what the organisation would do in 2009/10 to deliver the priorities and strategic objectives identified in the SCP, whilst continuing to develop health services that were fit for the future and seen as best practice (for copy see minute book).
- 61.2 Darren Grayson, B&H PCT, presented the report and drew attention to those sections of the report which were of particular relevance to the Children & Young People's Trust Board (see Appendix I to the minutes).
- 61.3 Mr Grayson highlighted Brighton & Hove's particular characteristics as a city, especially in its growing young population, which made it considerably different from the East and West Sussex areas; he referred to the issue of teenage pregnancy and alcohol misuse and noted these were also the issues in direct correlation with the young people; he noted the diversity of the city in terms of BME and in particular LGBT communities; he also pointed out that the city also had some major areas of deprivation.
- 61.4 Mr Grayson further explained how the scheme proposed to address the issue of health across the city and across its population described above. He noted that the strategy's commissioning goals that were of relevance to the CYPT Board focused on (i) maximising life chances for children and families and (ii) developing a healthy young city.
- 61.5 The Board welcomed the report and discussions took place about different aspects and proposals of the scheme.

- 61.6 Gail Gray, Women's Refuge, indicated that the issue of domestic abuse was also present for young people. She noted, however, that the issue still remained a hidden one and requested that it be not forgotten in the proposed scheme.
- 61.7 Mr Grayson welcomed and noted the concerns raised. He pointed out that a number of children in care come from families who suffered from domestic violence. He reassured members that, for this reason, it was clear that domestic violence was a connecting element in the process and had to be considered.
- 61.8 Councillor Fryer indicated she was pleased with the focus given to young people. She was concerned, however, that there might be a risk of not giving due attention to the older population.
- 61.9 Mr Grayson explained that because the young population was such a striking feature in Brighton & Hove, it was felt that section should be given some prominence. He reassured members, however, that the plan was not losing sight of the older people's issues. He explained that there already existed a specific strategy designed for older people.
- 61.10 Discussions also took place in relation to the social marketing proposed in the scheme and how this could be achieved to support the plan's goals. Members were also interested in how the NHS Brighton & Hove proposed to address the issue of suicide rates and how this could fit in with the CAMHS provision.
- 61.11 Mr Grayson explained that the service was aiming at reducing the suicide rates to about a fifth of its current figures. He indicated that there already existed a strategy on suicide prevention, which also gave considerable weight to the issue among the young men population. In terms of CAMHS support, he indicated that the Chalkhill provision that had opened in January 2009 had agreed a model of care to make better use of current facilities.
- 61.12 Members welcomed the report.
- 61.13 **RESOLVED** That, having considered the information and the reasons set out in the report, the Board accepted the following recommendations:
  - (1) That the Plan be noted.
  - (2) That the Board continues to give strategic leadership and overview to its implementation.

#### 62. TEENAGE PREGNANCY ACTION PLAN 2009-11

62.1 The Board considered a report of the Director of Children's Services concerning the Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan 2009/11, which recognised the high rate of teenage conception in Brighton & Hove relative to the rest of the South east of England, and presented an action plan to improve the situation (for copy see minute book).

#### CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE'S TRUST BOARD

- 62.2 Officers explained that teenage pregnancy had been identified as one of the problems for the city. Officers referred to the social and education consequences, which were reported to be worst in children born of young mothers.
- 62.3 It was noted that the progress in relation to this matter was better nationally than in Brighton & Hove, whilst also recognising that the rates of teenage pregnancy were the worst in Britain in relation to the rest of Europe. However, and despite the critical situation, the high level of senior officers committed to tackling this issue to do better for the city was identified as a positive element in the process, and the optimism in the believe that something can be done to change the situation.
- 62.4 The Board very much welcomed the report and the proposed action plan.
- 62.5 Discussions took place and the following considerations were also put forward: members considered that in order to support this work further, a deeper and more significant change needed to take place in terms of attitudes, behaviours and a round up cultural change as well as bringing on board and involving the fathers in the process; keeping continuous work with the practitioners; taking account of second and third pregnancies; whilst also cross referencing the issue with other related matter, such as alcohol consumption, etc.
- 62.6 Members also indicated that it was important to acknowledge that there were young mothers who did well and advised caution where generalisation was concerned. It was also pointed out that there were instances where teenage girls would want to have children willingly as a way to feel, give and receive love, something those teenagers might feel lack in their life. The question was posed as to how this factor could be dealt with.
- 62.7 Officers acknowledged that the work required was not all about the strategy that was being considered, but also all the work that the PCT and the Children & Young People's Trust were doing, and recognised that the work was not for all young people, but only some and, therefore, it was necessary to target it and improve expectations and opportunities for those specific young women.
- 62.8 Officers were also mindful of the messages the city itself gave out to young people. Concerns were raised to the fact that the messages young people receive were, by the very nature of this city young city in terms of its population, contradicting, indirectly inviting youngsters to consume alcohol, clubs and drugs.
- 62.9 The Board noted the conference being organised for members of staff in July 2009 and enquired whether young mothers and fathers had been invited to attend.
- 62.10 Officers indicated that the conference was aimed at staff and at helping them to understand the element of prevention and its importance in tackling the issue. It was explained that young people had not been included in this particular event so that staff could have a safe space in which to discuss all these issues freely and openly.
- 62.11 Members sought clarification as to how the Board could ensure that the leadership group of senior officers had the right people to take this strategy forward; and concerns

were also raised about the difficulty around accountability, as this was not usually an immediate process.

- 62.12 The Assistant Director, East Area Early Years and NHS Commissioning, explained that the message the senior officers wanted to get across to staff was that they should also be engaged and committed to this work, as they are the people who will deliver it in loco. It was also recognised that staff needed to be clear about what were the interventions that worked and those that did not.
- 62.13 Members also noted the analysis of under performance in paragraph 3.4 of the report and enquired what were the measures used to analyse that information.
- 62.14 The Assistant Director explained that officers went through a process whereby they talked to various other PCTs in order to identify successful performances. He indicated that officers found that Portsmouth, which was also a place which related to Brighton & Hove in terms of its young adults, had had a considerable reduction in number of teenage pregnancy. He indicated that officers drew upon those positive actions.
- 62.15 Members reiterated their satisfaction with the report and the plan proposed. They urged officers to not lose sight of the report and its action plan. Members also indicated that they would wish to accompany, monitor and analyse the progress achieved, therefore would like to see a further report on this item.
- 62.16 Officers agreed to bring a 6 months progress report to the Board.
- 62.17 **RESOLVED** That, having considered the information and the reasons set out in the report, the Board accepted the following recommendations:
  - (1) That the Action Plan for 2009/11 be noted.
  - (2) That the specific recommendations surrounding leadership for the Brighton & Hove Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan be agreed.

#### 63. THE IMPACT OF SCHOOLS COSTS ON FAMILIES

- 63.1 The Board considered a report of the Director of Children's Services concerning the Impact of Schools Costs on Families (for copy see minute book).
- 63.2 Councillor Hawkes indicated she was grateful that the report had been brought to the Board and welcomed the focus on the matters concerned.

#### 63.3 **RESOLVED** -

- (1) That the following actions that are being taken in response to the Notice of Motion considered at Council in October 2008 be noted:
- (ii) Guidance from the 'Adding Up' campaign will be circulated to all schools within the City, including their 'Top Ten Tips' for schools to adopt to help parents

- (ii) Schools will be provided with a list of charities that can support families with costs associated with children attending school.
- (iii) Schools will be reminded of their statutory duty to ensure their policies do not disadvantage any children.

#### 64. IMPLICATIONS OF LORD LAMING REPORT

- 64. 1 The Board considered a presentation from the Director of Children's Services regarding the implications of Lord Laming Report (see Appendix 2 to the minutes).
- 64.2 The Director of Children's Services explained that the report had been published a month ago and considered it was important to start exploring its implications from the start. She highlighted the main implications arising from Lord Laming report and what the next steps for Brighton & Hove would be as a result.
- 64.3 The Director indicated that the approach taken in the report differed slightly from the stocktake initial report. She explained that Laming's report emphasised the essential partnerships between all Government departments, local authorities and agencies, and focused on what everybody should be doing. The Director explained that, in this respect, there was a step change from what had been recommended previously in that leadership and accountabilities were now required not only from Children's Trusts, but also from the very top of PCTs and Councils at Chief Executive level.
- 64.4 The Director noted that the children's workforce constituted the largest section in the report, and highlighted the emphasis allocated to strengthening the social care profession as well as the support in place for social and family workers in terms of the training available and the reviewing of their role where was applicable.
- 64.5 The Director reported that there were a total of 58 recommendations emerging from Lord Laming's report. She highlighted the three that were directly relevant to the Board, which included establishing a stronger relationship between the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and the CYPT Board, and pointed out that some actions were required from the Board in order to uphold those recommendations.

The Director also referred to the fact that Police representation on the LSCB was prominent whilst this was not reflected in terms of the Brighton & Hove CYPT Board, and indicated this was an action the Board might wish to take forward.

- 64.6 The Director noted that Lord Laming's report would influence and drive forward the next Children and Young People's Plan (CYPP). She reported that Brighton & Hove Children and Young People's Plan was currently being reviewed in light of the report.
- 64.7 The Director further considered that this paper presented both a challenge and an opportunity for all parties, in the sense that all were required to readjust their particular services whilst also ensuring that, collectively, everyone was working towards strengthening and protecting the safeguarding strategies.
- 64.8 Members welcomed the presentation and thanked the Director of Children's Services for putting it forward in a clear way.

- 64.9 Members sought clarification about the interaction between the Board and the LSCB and how this could be carried forward.
- 64.10 The Director of Children Services acknowledged that the relationship between the LSCB and the CYPT Board had not always been clear. She stated that the report recognised that those bodies had discrete and separate functions; however, it also established a clear requirement for mutual accountability between those bodies. The Director also reported that a new Chairman had been appointed to the LSCB.
- 64.11 Members enquired whether there were expectations for the new Chairman of the LSCB to sit on the Board.
- 64.12 The Director clarified that this was not expected. However, and because the requirement now was that LSCB reports to the CYPT Board, it might be useful for the LSCB Chairman to attend a meeting of the Board to present their annual report. The Director considered that the annual reporting might constitute an opportunity for robust discussions between the two parties.
- 64.13 **RESOLVED** That the presentation and its content be noted.

#### 65. PHASE 3 CHILDREN'S CENTRES

- 65. 1 The Board considered a report of the Director of Children's Services concerning Phase Three Children's Centres and their requirement as part of the national target of 3.500 Children's Centres to offer universal access for all young children and their families (for copy see minute book).
- 65.2 Members welcomed and commended the report. They considered that filling in the gaps across the city where it was required was a positive move.
- 65.3 **RESOLVED** That, having considered the information and the reasons set out in the report, the Board accepted the following recommendations:
  - (1) That the development of the Westdene Children's Centre at Westdene Primary School (£260,000) be agreed.
  - (2) That the development of the Saltdean and Rottingdean Children's Centre at Boomerang Kids, Saltdean (£150,000) be agreed.
  - (3) That the extensions to the Roundabout Children's Centre in Whitehawk (£350,000), the Hollingdean Children's Centre base in Shenfield Way (£200,000), and the Hangleton Park Children's Centre (£200,000) be agreed.

#### 66. PART TWO MINUTES - EXEMPT CATEGORY 1 & 2

66.1 In terms of the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 2 March 2009, the lawyer indicated that when the item was considered there were confidential issues involved and, therefore, it was considered under Part Two of the agenda. She noted, however,

that the minutes did not reflect any of the confidential issues considered and discussed at the meeting. In view of this, she advised she that the minutes should not remain confidential.

#### 66.2 **RESOLVED** -

- (1) That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 2 March be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.
- (2) That the minutes no longer remain confidential and be made public accordingly.

#### 67. PHASE 3 CHILDREN'S CENTRES - EXEMPT CATEGORY 3

- 67.1 The Board considered a report of the Director of Children's Services concerning Phase Three Children's Services and their requirement as part of the national target of 3.500 Children's Centres to offer universal access for all young children and their families (for copy see minute book).
- 67.2 The Board noted the proposals and welcomed the report.
- 67.3 **RESOLVED** That the recommendations detailed in the report be agreed.

#### 68. PART TWO ITEMS

68.1 **RESOLVED** – That Item 67 and the decision thereon remain exempt from disclosure from the press and public.

The meeting concluded at 6.30pm

Signed

Chairman

Dated this day of

2009



2009/10 Annual Operating Plan for NHS Brighton & Hove CYPT Board – 20<sup>th</sup> April 09

# Local People – Local Health Needs

### **Our Population**

- High proportion of young adults
- o Increasingly diverse
- Areas of substantial deprivation within the City

### **Health Needs in Brighton & Hove**

- Mental health significant issue for young people
- Drug use
- Alcohol misuse
- Sexually transmitted infections
- Teenage pregnancy
- Health inequalities 6 year difference in life expectancy



# Strategic Commissioning Plan

- o 2008 to 2013
- Our Vision and Our Values
- 5 Strategic Objectives
- o 5 Key Commissioning Goals
- 10 Priority Health Outcomes
- o 23 Initiatives

# **Strategic Objectives**

- Leading advocate
- Health improvement and health outcomes
- Increase service quality and choice
- Public Confidence and engagement
- Manage resources effectively

# 5 Key Commissioning Goals

Including:

 Maximising life chances for children and families

• Developing a healthy young city

# **Annual Operating Plan**

- Builds on Strategic Commissioning Plan
- 1 year plan 2009/10
- Outlines the key initiatives and plans to deliver
  - Improved health outcomes
  - Local priorities
  - Commissioning goals
  - National targets
- Also includes:
  - Key enablers and infrastrucutre, eg.
    - Practice Based Commissioning
    - Quality and patient involvement
    - Information Technology (IT)
    - Emergency preparedness
  - Risk Assessment
- Total net investment in new initiatives £8.7m from £22m additional money in 0910

## Healthy Lives, Brighter Future Children's Health Strategy

The PCT and CYPT have agreed 6 priority areas to focus on from this strategy:

- Safeguarding children and vulnerable children
- Provision of equipment for disabled children
- Review therapist and allied nursing professionals (including service for disabled children)
- Increased provision of information and advice to parents (including services for disabled children)
- Review the impact of the prospective changes to the child health plan
- System level transformation commissioning and performance management arrangements

# Schemes relating to 32 Specific Initiatives including

- 6 initiatives to maximise chances of children and families
  - Teenage Pregnancy Reduction
  - CAMHS
  - Long acting reversible contraception
  - Childhood Obesity Schemes
  - Improving maternity services
  - Childhood immunisations

#### • 6 initiatives to develop a healthy young city

- Reducing suicide
- Alcohol Initiatives
- Chlamydia screening
- Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
- Sexual health services in primary care
- Substance misuse

**The Protection of Children in England:** 

A Progress Report The Lord Laming

**Implications for the CYPT Board** 

Di Smith, Director of Children's Services

20th April 2009







# Laming

# Report was asked to address 3 key questions relating to :

- Good practice
- Key barriers
- Specific actions to be taken by Government and national and local agencies to overcome barriers and accelerate improvements in safeguarding practice across the country.

# Laming calls for....

'a sustained commitment to child protection and promoting the welfare of children at every level of government and in every one of the local services'

# **Main Chapter Headings**

- Leadership and accountability
- Support for children
- Inter-agency working
- Children's workforce
- Improvement and challenge
- Organisation and finance
- Legal considerations

# **Recommendations** (58 recommendations in all)

Three key recommendations for CYPT Board and LSCB:

51 The Children's Trust and the Local Safeguarding Children Board should not be chaired by the same person. The Local Safeguarding Children Board Chair should be selected with the agreement of a group of multi-agency partners and should have training to support them in their role. **52** Local Safeguarding Children Boards should include membership from the senior decision makers from all safeguarding partners, who should attend regularly and be fully involved as equal partners in Local Safeguarding Children Board decision making.

53

Local Safeguarding Children Boards should report to the Children's Trust Board and publish an annual report on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. Local Safeguarding Children Boards should provide robust challenge to the work of the Children's Trust and its partners in order to ensure that the right systems and quality of services and practice are in place so that children are properly safeguarded.

### **CYPT Response to Laming Report**

- Response to Laming will build on 'stock take' previously reported to CYPT Board
- Form part of our drive to ensure best quality care and protection for every child
- All second and third tier officers across CYPT have had session considering the implications of Laming's recommendations and next steps.

## **Response from Government**

- Government has accepted all of the recommendations
- Government will produce a detailed action plan in response to the recommendations by the end of April
- Sir Roger Singleton appointed to new role of Chief Adviser on the Safety of Children
- Across-Government National Safeguarding Delivery Unit will be established
- Legislation already developed to ensure every local authority has a statutory Children's Trust Board to improve all outcomes for children

### **Next Steps in Brighton & Hove**

- Only around a quarter of the 58 recommendations are, initially, for local implementation.
- The remainder are for national government and agencies.
- It will be down to the local authority and partners to ensure that change is delivered on the ground.
- Each agency will need to determine individually and collectively an appropriate response to Laming.

The CYPT Board and the LSCB will be central to ensuring a coherent response that promotes the welfare of children and young people in Brighton and Hove.